

Economic Research Service U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Economic Research Service

Economic Brief Number 38

December 2024

# Potential Budgetary Impacts of Climate Change on the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan

Dylan Turner, Katherine Baldwin, Jayson Beckman, Noé J. Nava, Francis Tsiboe, and Kate Vaiknoras





#### **Recommended citation format for this publication:**

Turner, D., Baldwin, K., Beckman, J., Nava, N. J., Tsiboe, F., & Vaiknoras, K. (2024). *Potential budgetary impacts of climate change on the pasture, rangeland, and forage insurance plan* (Report No. EB-38). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.



Cover image assets sourced from Getty Images.

Use of commercial and trade names does not imply approval or constitute endorsement by USDA. The analysis, findings, and conclusions expressed in this report should not be attributed to IRI or NielsenIQ.

To ensure the quality of its research reports and satisfy governmentwide standards, ERS requires that all research reports with substantively new material be reviewed by qualified technical research peers. This technical peer review process, coordinated by ERS' Peer Review Coordinating Council, allows experts who possess the technical background, perspective, and expertise to provide an objective and meaningful assessment of the output's substantive content and clarity of communication during the publication's review.

In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights regulations and policies, the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and institutions participating in or administering USDA programs are prohibited from discriminating based on race, color, national origin, religion, sex, gender identity (including gender expression), sexual orientation, disability, age, marital status, family/parental status, income derived from a public assistance program, political beliefs, or reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity, in any program or activity conducted or funded by USDA (not all bases apply to all programs). Remedies and complaint filing deadlines vary by program or incident.

Persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program information (e.g., Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.) should contact the responsible Agency or USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TTY) or contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339. Additionally, program information may be made available in languages other than English.

To file a program discrimination complaint, complete the USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form, AD-3027, found online at How to File a Program Discrimination Complaint and at any USDA office or write a letter addressed to USDA and provide in the letter all of the information requested in the form. To request a copy of the complaint form, call (866) 632-9992. Submit your completed form or letter to USDA by: (1) mail: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, D.C. 20250-9410; (2) fax: (202) 690-7442; or (3) email: program. intake@usda.gov.

USDA is an equal opportunity provider, employer, and lender.



Economic Research Service

Economic Brief Number 38

December 2024

# Potential Budgetary Impacts of Climate Change on the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan

Dylan Turner, Katherine Baldwin, Jayson Beckman, Noé J. Nava, Francis Tsiboe, and Kate Vaiknoras

# Abstract

More frequent and severe weather events are projected with climate change. The U.S. Federal Government offers programs to help producers mitigate the financial impacts of these adverse events, the largest of which is the USDA, Federal Crop Insurance Program (FCIP). The potential impacts on FCIP outlays under future climate scenarios have been explored but most analyses have focused on impacts on field crops. A changing climate could also affect forage commodities and livestock producers. The Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage (PRF) insurance plan was designed to help producers mitigate financial losses associated with a lack of precipitation. Payments are triggered if precipitation is below a historical index. Payment amounts are determined by the decrease in precipitation, changes in biomass value, and participation in the program. This report provides projected changes to precipitation (using climate estimates), biomass (using a livestock rangeland model), and future participation in the program. Results show that net payments (defined as indemnities, plus premium subsidies, minus total premiums) are projected to range from an annual average of approximately \$495 million per year to \$2.63 billion per year between 2024 and 2050 compared to the average net payments of \$603 million per year (in 2024 terms) observed in 2020–23.

# About the Authors

Dylan Turner, Katherine Baldwin, Jayson Beckman, Noé J. Nava, Francis Tsiboe, and Kate Vaiknoras are economists with the USDA, Economic Research Service, Market and Trade Economics Division.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Kelly Maguire and Utpal Vasavada of USDA, Economic Research Service (ERS); Joseph Cooper, Elizabeth Marshall, and Cynthia Nickerson of USDA, Office of the Chief Economist; Joy Harwood of USDA, Farm Production and Conservation Business Center; Robert Richardson of the Office of Management and Budget; and anonymous reviewers for their comments. The authors also thank USDA, ERS staff Christopher Whitney, Casey Keel, and Elaine Symanski for editorial services, and Jeremy Bell for layout and design.

## Contents

Introduction
The Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan (PRF)2
Estimating Future Payments
Future Precipitation
Future Biomass
Future Participation
Simulation Results
Conclusion
References

# Potential Budgetary Impacts of Climate Change on the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan

## Introduction

More frequent and severe climate events are projected as the climate changes, with implications for U.S. agricultural production and producer incomes (Bolster et al., 2023). The Federal Government offers a variety of programs to help producers mitigate the financial impacts of adverse events (Tsiboe & Turner, 2023; Turner et al., 2023), the largest of which is the USDA, Federal Crop Insurance Program (FCIP) (see box, "Federal Crop Insurance Program (FCIP), a Public/Private Partnership"). While various analyses of the potential impacts on FCIP outlays under future climate scenarios have been reported, most have focused on the potential impacts on field crops (e.g., Beckman et al., 2024; Tack et al., 2018). However, a changing climate could also affect forage crops and livestock producers under scenarios with declining precipitation. Previous work from Hrozencik et al. (2024) projected how increased drought incidence under climate change would affect producer payments under the Livestock Forage Disaster Program, which is not under the FCIP. The FCIP Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage (PRF) insurance plan is another risk management tool for livestock producers that may help mitigate financial losses from a decline in forage production when rainfall falls below historical levels. To date, however, the financial risk to the Federal Government of this program is unknown.

#### Federal Crop Insurance Program (FCIP), a Public/Private Partnership

Operated as a public/private partnership between the Federal Government and private insurance companies known as Approved Insurance Providers (AIPs), FCIP is administered by the USDA, Risk Management Agency (RMA), while policies are sold and serviced by AIPs. The Government also supports FCIP by subsidizing both a portion of producer policy premiums (i.e., the cost of the insurance plan) and AIP administrative and operating costs. The Government may also share underwriting losses with the AIP.

Crop insurance premium subsidies represent the largest budgetary outlay among Farm Bill producer support programs, averaging \$9 billion annually over fiscal years 2020 to 2022. In fiscal year 2022, subsidies for crop insurance policies accounted for nearly one-third of the total Government budgetary expenditures for producer support (data on program expenditures are sourced from USDA, Office of Budget and Program Analysis (OBPA) and USDA, Farm Production and Conservation Business Center (FPAC), accessed through the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development's Producer Support Estimates database).

For most of the FCIP's existence, options for insuring pasture, rangeland, and forage production were limited to the plans focused on annual forage crops (often hay) that have a defined planting and harvesting window. Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage insurance (PRF) was introduced as a pilot product for the 2007 crop year to address some challenges associated with applying traditional crop insurance plans to perennial forage crops. For example, the same pasture or rangeland can be continuously grazed throughout the year, making it difficult to measure the productivity of the acreage for purposes of setting an insurance guarantee (as is needed for field crops under the FCIP). Moreover, traditional policies provide financial protection for the entire crop year, whereas ranchers may have only small windows during the year when livestock are grazing, after which

insurance is not necessary. PRF provides protection for producers when a loss of forage is experienced due to a single peril—a lack of precipitation (see box, "How the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan Works"). Because PRF utilizes a rainfall index for purposes of calculating losses, a measure of actual on farm production or loss of production is not required.

#### How the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan (PRF) Works

PRF utilizes a rainfall index to determine precipitation for coverage purposes. The rainfall index is normalized such that 100 is approximately equal to the historical average of rainfall from 1948 to the past year. The total number of years of historic rainfall used to construct the index increases by 1 each year. Since years are never removed from the index, the relative influence of each additional year on the index declines over time. Another feature of the PRF program is the use of a grid system rather than a county boundary. The index is based on National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Climate Prediction Center (NOAA, CPC) data, with grids of 0.25 degrees latitude by 0.25 degrees longitude (approximately 17 miles by 17 miles at the equator). Coverage is based on the experience of the entire grid and not on specific farms/ranches or an individual weather station in the specific area. Producers who insure production under PRF make three primary choices: (1) a coverage level from 70 to 90 percent (representing a percentage of the county base value) for the county, crop, intended use, and production practice (e.g., organic and irrigation); (2) at least two (and up to six) index intervals representing nonoverlapping 2-month periods. This choice allows producers to insure the periods when precipitation is most important to their operation; and (3) one productivity factor from 60 percent through 150 percent to match the amount of protection to the productive capacity of the producer's acres. Producers can insure some or all of their insurable acres. If the final grid index falls below the policy's "trigger grid index" (i.e., the expected grid index (100) times the coverage level), the producer may receive payment. Indemnities (i.e., the compensation paid out for qualifying losses under PRF) and premium rates are determined by using actual NOAA, CPC data for the grid(s), coverage level, and index intervals that were insured.

The report authors used projected precipitation estimates and estimates of biomass change to calculate potential future PRF net payments (indemnities, plus premium subsidies, minus total premiums). Depending on assumptions made on future PRF participation, net payments are projected to average between \$495 million and \$2.63 billion per year between 2024 and 2050. For reference, net payments have averaged approximately \$603 million per year from 2020 to 2023, all in 2024 monetary terms.

# The Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan (PRF)

The PRF plan was introduced in 2007 as a pilot program in six States (Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Texas, Colorado, North Dakota, and Idaho) and made available to all 48 contiguous U.S. States by 2016. Since then, participation in PRF has increased (figure 1). Total insured FCIP acreage for the 2016 crop year was just under 300 million acres, of which 44 million acres were insured under PRF (approximately 15 percent of insured acreage, both grassland and cropland). Total insured acreage has grown each year since 2016, with the relative share of PRF increasing as well. For the 2023 crop year, total insured FCIP acreage reached 538

million acres, with 278 million of those acres (approximately 52 percent) insured under PRF. The 2023 crop year was the first time acres insured under PRF represented the majority of total FCIP insured acres<sup>1 2</sup> (see box, "Increases in PRF Enrollment").



# Figure 1 Federal Crop Insurance Program insured acres

PRF = Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage insurance plan.

Note: Data in the chart represent USDA, Risk Management Agency's (RMA) Summary of Business files as of April 16, 2024. Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using data from USDA, Risk Management Agency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although several other insurance options have remained available for forages, about 95 percent of all insured acreage for forage crops from 2016 to 2021 was enrolled in the PRF plan.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The authors estimated that 21 percent of all land that could be used for pasture, rangeland, and forage in the contiguous United States is enrolled in PRF.

#### Increases in Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan (PRF) Enrollment

Since 2016, participation in PRF has increased steadily, but it is difficult to directly identify determinants of enrollment. When first introduced, an initial surge in demand occurred associated with program availability. However, observed correlations between enrollment and other factors, like precipitation, may be spurious and simply attributable to producers' awareness of the program. Since 2016, there have been increases in Statelevel year-to-year enrollment in 76 percent of the occurrences (that is, there are 287 possible occurrences-the number of years for how many States had PRF, summed across all States, and State enrollment increased in 218 of those occurrences), yet precipitation decreased in only 127 of the instances. PRF payments are made based on decreases in precipitation along with the other parts of the calculations. However, the correlation between the change in year-to-year enrollment and the change in precipitation (2 years ago versus last year-referred to as lag year-to-year precipitation) is only 0.12. Because of the pilot/new nature of the program, the report authors advise caution when interpreting the correlation coefficients. Examining if the largest increases in yearto-year enrollment can be linked to decreases in precipitation is also difficult. Figure 2 shows the change in year-to-year program participation along with the corresponding change in lag year-to-year precipitation. The largest enrollment increase by a State in a given year was in Nevada in 2022 (an increase of 14.06 percent from 2021). This increase came after precipitation decreased by 32.86 percent from 2020 to 2021. However, the next largest increase in enrollment participation was in Utah in 2021 (14.02 percent), which came after an 8 percent increase in precipitation from 2019 to 2020.





Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using precipitation data from the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP). Participation data come from USDA, Economic Research Service using data from USDA, Risk Management Agency. Although PRF represents the majority of insured FCIP acres, the economic significance of PRF is generally small compared to other FCIP insurance plans. At the national level, PRF represented 2.7 percent of insured liability (i.e., the total amount of insurance measured by value) for the 2023 crop year (figure 3). The difference between PRF representing the majority of FCIP insured acreage and a small share of liability is because forage crops are typically of a much lower value than major field crops or specialty crops. The share of total indemnities attributable to PRF was generally commensurate with PRF's share of total liabilities until 2015. From 2016 to 2023, relative indemnities began to rise (coinciding with decreased precipitation in the western States), reaching a peak of 10 percent of paid indemnities for crop year 2023. This period also coincided with the program's expansion to the contiguous 48 States.





PRF = Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage insurance plan. FCIP = Federal Crop Insurance Program. Note: Data in the chart represent USDA, Risk Management Agency's (RMA) Summary of Business files as of April 16, 2024. Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using data from USDA, Risk Management Agency.

Although the economic significance of PRF is relatively small at the national level, for some portions of the United States, the insurance plan covers the majority of FCIP acreage. Figure 4 shows the average share of insured acreas associated with the PRF insurance plan relative to all insured acreage in each county in 2016–23. For many counties in the western and southern United States, PRF represents more than 75 percent of the insured acreage (see box, "Literature on Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance").

### Literature on Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan (PRF)

Given PRF's expansion to the 48 contiguous States and the recent growth in participation, limited literature has explored PRF's design and enrollment. Davidson and Goodrich (2023) noted that low enrollment could be due to the complex design of the program. As of 2021, PRF enrollment was estimated at 33 percent of eligible acreage participated. Goodrich et al. (2020) showed that producers tended to insure in 2-month intervals that were outside the typical growing season and did not have a significant impact on forage growth.<sup>1</sup> Belasco and Hungerford (2018) similarly noted that producer interval selections were spread throughout the year, including during the winter months, although snowpack has not been shown to greatly impact forage.

<sup>1</sup> The authors note that because the subsidy rates for PRF coverage are set as a fixed proportion of the total premium and total premiums are higher for index intervals in the nongrowing season, then allocating insured liability into index intervals outside the growing season maximizes a producer's expected return on purchasing PRF coverage.

#### Figure 4 Average PRF insured acreage as a share of total insured acreage, 2016-23



PRF=Federal Pasture, Rangeland and Forage insurance plan.

Note: "No county level data are available" indicates that there was either no crop insurance participation or data were not disaggregated at the county level. "No PRF participation" indicates that some acreage in the county was enrolled in a Federal Crop Insurance Program (FCIP) policy, but no acreage was enrolled in PRF. PRF is not offered in Alaska, Puerto Rico, Guam, or the U.S. Virgin Islands. PRF was expanded to Hawaii in 2024.

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using data from USDA, Risk Management Agency's Summary of Business files as of April 16, 2024.

## **Estimating Future Payments**

Estimation of future PRF payments requires three pieces of data:

Precipitation: Grid-level estimates of future precipitation are required to calculate the grid-level precipitation indices and track when precipitation is projected to decline below the threshold necessary to trigger a PRF payment. (2) Biomass: Grid-level estimates of future biomass availability are needed to calculate the value of the available forage in each grid. Available biomass directly influences the insured liability of a PRF policy and affects the magnitude of future payments when a payment is triggered by low precipitation.
 Participation: County-level estimates of future participation are required to track the level and spatial distribution of insured forage under PRF so that the relevant precipitation and biomass values can be applied.

## **Future Precipitation**

To estimate future precipitation and its impact on PRF payments, the authors used the National Aeronautics and Space Administration's (NASA) global climate projections, specifically, SSP5-RCP-8.5 (see box, "Understanding NASA's Global Climate Projections"). This climate scenario represents the highest emission scenario of all Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) and has been the focus of recent USDA, ERS reports (Beckman et al., 2024; Vaiknoras et al., 2024). The authors collected and processed climate change data from the NEX-GDDP database based on the SSP585. The database is formed of different simulation experiments performed by various scientific groups around the world using global circulation models (GCMs). The authors used the following: (1) Canadian Earth System Model version 5, (2) Taiwan Earth System Model version 1, (3) Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate version 6, and (4) Australian Community Climate and Earth System Simulator Coupled Model version 2. Thrasher et al. (2022) described the simulation methodologies and database.<sup>3</sup>

#### **Understanding NASA's Global Climate Projections**

Climate projection models are built and classified using a two-step approach that considers factors such as economic and population growth and mitigation strategies. In the first step, Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSPs) account for energy, land use, and some economic determinants that subsequently affect the amount of greenhouse gas emitted. SSPs are categorized by different degrees of challenges to mitigation and adaptation. SSP5, used in this research, is often referred to as fossil-fueled development, with high challenges to mitigation and low challenges to adaptation. Next, Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) measure the change in the energy concentrated in the atmosphere caused by natural or anthropogenic forces (those caused by human activities). The RCP used here assumes greenhouse gas emissions will keep rising toward the end of the century (Riahi et al., 2007).

Figure 5 describes the geographical and temporal patterns of precipitation, respectively, in the contiguous United States based on the modeling scenario described above. The geographical pattern described in figure 5 indicates that certain areas in the contiguous United States will experience increases in precipitation as high as 22.51 percent and declines of up to -13.15 percent by 2050. While such changes are scattered throughout

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Climate change is also projected to change the intensity and variability of precipitation, implying an increase in the probability of extreme events such as droughts and floods. Further examination of these dynamics is beyond the scope of this report.

the country, differences in a few locations are worth highlighting. Particularly, some western regions of the United States will experience higher levels of precipitation by the middle of the century, which appear as blue clusters on the map. Some of these States (e.g., Nevada, Utah, Colorado, and Wyoming) also have the largest shares of pasture, rangeland, and forage lands in the United States. The Corn Belt, where most of the corn and soybean production occurs, is expected to experience higher precipitation toward the middle of the century. This region, however, has the lowest share of pasture, rangeland, and forage land in the country (as shown in figure 4). Future precipitation projections also indicated several isolated areas of decreasing precipitation, primarily located along the West and East coasts.





Note: Projected precipitation is measured in cumulative cubic centimeters each year. The values for 2020 and 2050 are obtained by averaging the previous 5 years for robustness. Alaska and Hawaii were not included in the study as the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage insurance plan (PRF) was not available in those States in the past. Coverage was expanded to Hawaii in 2024.

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using data from the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP).

## **Future Biomass**

Estimates of future quantities of available herbaceous biomass are obtained using a simulation program called G-Range, a global, gridded ecosystem model of rangelands. Projected climate data from seven GCMs<sup>4</sup> on monthly precipitation and temperatures (maximum and minimum) are input into G-Range to simulate changes to biomass on rangelands around the globe due to climate change (although the authors used only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Following Boone et al. (2018), the included models are BCC-CMS 1.1 (Wu, 2012); CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 (Collier et al., 2011); GFDL-CM3 (Donner et al., 2011); GISS-E2-R (Schmidt et al., 2006); HadGEM2.ES (Collins et al., 2011); IPSL-CM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013); and MIR-CGCM3 (Yukimoto et al., 2012). Note that the GCMs are not the same across the G-Range work and the precipitation projections, but all GCMs simulate changes in climate, hence their outputs should be similar.

the U.S. results in this report). The model includes parameters such as soil properties from the Harmonized World Soil Database (United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA), ISRIC-World Soil Information, Institute of Soil Science, Chinese Academy of Sciences (ISSCAS), and Joint Research Centre of the European Commission (JRC), 2012), and the proportional cover of herbaceous, shrub, and trees (DeFries et al., 2000; Loveland et al., 2000). For each grid cell, plant growth and death, soil carbon levels, nutrient cycling, and more were simulated by month based on changing precipitation and temperatures and the characteristics of the grid cell.<sup>5</sup>

Because G-Range simulates only rangeland areas as defined by land cover type, some portions of the United States were not included.<sup>6</sup> Figure 6 shows the location of rangelands in the United States and the quantity of herbaceous biomass by grid square, as estimated by the model in 2024. Most rangelands are in the western half of the United States, along with small areas of the southeastern United States.



#### Figure 6 Herbaceous biomass in the contiguous United States, 2024

Note: Alaska and Hawaii were not included in the study as the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage insurance plan (PRF) was not available in the past. Coverage was expanded to Hawaii in 2024.

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using the G-Range simulation model with results averaged across seven general circulation models: HadGEM2.ES (Collins et al., 2011), IPSL-CM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013), CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 (Collier et al., 2011), BCCCMS 1.1 (Wu, 2012), GFDL-CM3 (Donner et al., 2011), GISS-E2-R (Schmidt et al., 2006), and MIR-CGCM3 (Yukimoto et al., 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Boone et al. (2018) provided more detailed information about G-Range, including its development and validation. G-Range has been used in literature, including Godde et al. (2020) and Vaiknoras et al. (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The authors determined potential areas for PRF adoption based on two sources of data. The first source is Rangelands grided data from USDA, Forest Service, where they overlaid the PRF grid surface with it to determine the share of each PRF grid that can be potentially enrolled in PRF. They supplemented this with cropland data layer (CDL) grid data from 2008 to 2023, where they developed an indicator grid where this grid takes on the value of unity if the grid had alfalfa or pasture at least once over this period. Again, they overlaid the PRF grid surface with this indicator surface to identify extra areas missed by rangelands. For the counties that have PRF land but are not in G-Range, they assumed that the growth in forage is zero. However, note that the granular data from the G-Range model are particularly useful for the micro-level shocks, which were used for the macro-level projections at either the State or the national level. Practically, this finding means that they put more weights on the areas with G-Range model outcomes. The authors' estimate of land available for PRF is 1.3 billion acres, which is approximately 55 percent of all U.S. land, as noted by RMA (2024).

Between 2024 and 2050, it is estimated that the contiguous United States will have a 1-percent gain in herbaceous biomass. However, results vary by county and State (figure 7). Some counties are predicted to lose more than 50 percent of their herbaceous biomass by 2050; these counties are in Texas, New Mexico, and Colorado. New Mexico is projected to experience the largest percentage loss (35 percent) of any State, and all but one of its 30 rangeland counties are projected to lose herbaceous biomass. The second greatest projected herbaceous biomass loss at the State level is North Dakota, with a projected 13-percent decline. By contrast, some counties are forecast to gain more than 50 percent herbaceous biomass; these counties are in Washington, Idaho, Nevada, California, Utah, and Colorado. At the State level, Washington is forecast to have the greatest percentage increase (32 percent), followed by Nevada (22 percent).



# Figure 7 Percent change in herbaceous biomass, 2024 to 2050

Note: Alaska and Hawaii were not included in the study as the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage insurance plan (PRF) was not available in those States in the past. Coverage was expanded to Hawaii in 2024.

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using the G-Range simulation model with results averaged across seven general circulation models: HadGEM2.ES (Collins et al., 2011), IPSL-CM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013), CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 (Collier et al., 2011), BCCCMS 1.1 (Wu, 2012), GFDL-CM3 (Donner et al., 2011), GISS-E2-R (Schmidt et al., 2006), and MIR-CGCM3 (Yukimoto et al., 2012).

In Washington and Nevada, the States with the greatest percentage growth in herbaceous biomass, most growth is projected to occur after 2035 (figure 8). North Dakota, the State projected to lose the second most biomass (13 percent decrease), will begin losing biomass around 2035. For New Mexico, the State with the greatest projected losses (35 percent), losses begin a few years earlier, around 2032.

#### Figure 8 Percentage change in herbaceous biomass, 2024 to 2050, for U.S. States with the largest projected change



Note: Includes the States with the greatest percentage growth (Washington and Nevada) and loss (New Mexico and North Dakota) from 2024 to 2050.

Source: Source: USDA, Economic Research Service using the G-Range simulation model with results averaged across seven general circulation models: HadGEM2.ES (Collins et al., 2011), IPSL-CM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013), CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 (Collier et al., 2011), BCCCMS 1.1 (Wu, 2012), GFDL-CM3 (Donner et al., 2011), GISS-E2-R (Schmidt et al., 2006), and MIR-CGCM3 (Yukimoto et al., 2012).

## **Future Participation**

USDA, ERS generates estimates of future PRF participation using four distinct scenarios.<sup>7</sup>

- A baseline scenario, in which insured acreage is held fixed at 2024 levels throughout the analysis.
- A nonnegative trend-based growth scenario, in which future county-level PRF acreage is estimated by regressing past county-level PRF acreage on a trend variable, using data from 2020 to 2023.
- A variable precipitation-driven growth scenario, in which county-level PRF participation is modeled as a function of historical monthly precipitation levels. Specifically, for each observation (defined by the unique combination of county, PRF coverage level, and index interval), month-specific measures of precipitation were constructed based on the 4-year moving average of grid-level precipitation for all grids in the county.<sup>8</sup> PRF acreage was then regressed on these measures of precipitation, along with an annual trend variable, indicators for Farm Bill periods (to control for distinct policy environments), and interactors between the annual trend and Farm Bill indicators. These regression results were then combined with projected changes in precipitation to get predicted rates of PRF enrollment for each year in the projection period.
- A full participation scenario, where all acreage that could potentially be used for rangeland, pasture, and forage is enrolled in the program.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Similar to Hrozencik et al. (2024), this analysis assumed that livestock producers do not adapt to evolving climatic conditions. However, livestock producers may adapt to changing climate conditions by altering their herd sizes, production practices, and/or the location where they choose to operate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Grid-level measures of precipitation were aggregated to the county level by weighting each grid's precipitation by the share of potential PRF acreage that is in the grid.

Figure 9 depicts actual (through 2024) and projected (2024-50) insured acreage under each of the four scenarios. Enrolled acreage under the baseline scenario and full participation scenario remain constant for the entire projection period at 279.5 million acres and 1.582 billion acres, respectively. Enrolled acreage under the trend-driven growth rate and precipitation-driven growth rate both rise steadily over the projection period, reaching 292.5 million acres and 298.5 million acres, respectively, by 2050.



#### Figure 9 Pasture, Rangeland, Forage insurance plan projected insured acreage, 2007-50

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service analysis of data from USDA, Risk Management Agency, National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP), and the G-Range simulation model with results averaged across seven general circulation models: HadGEM2.ES (Collins et al., 2011), IPSL-CM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013), CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 (Collier et al., 2011), BCCCMS 1.1 (Wu, 2012), GFDL-CM3 (Donner et al., 2011), GISS-E2-R (Schmidt et al., 2006), and MIR-CGCM3 (Yukimoto et al., 2012).

Estimations of future participation were combined with precipitation and biomass estimates to calculate insured liabilities. Projections for liability were based on anticipated changes in county-base value (i.e., expected per acre value for PRF) and insured acreage. The county-base value was projected at the county level based on externally determined changes in biomass. Finally, the base rate (used for premium calculation) and payment factors (used for indemnity calculations) for PRF were projected by applying RMA actuarial methodology (Coble et al., 2020; Tsiboe et al., 2023) at the grid level, based on estimated changes in precipitation (see box, "PRF Premium and Indemnity Calculation"). These numbers were then aggregated to the county level, based on observed PRF participation patterns from 2018 to 2023 and over counties with rangeland or pasture and forage coverage. The premium subsidy percentages were fixed at the levels established by Federal legislation in 2024. The projection of total future net payments was then calculated as the sum of total indemnity and premium subsidy minus total premium.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The overall cost to the Government is conditional on variations in: (A) total premiums, (B) premium subsidies provided to producers, (C) indemnities, (D) program delivery cost and subsidies, and (E) reinsurance (underwriting losses minus underwriting gains). Given the above items, the total cost is calculated as (A-B)-C-D+E. In this exercise, the authors only captured (A-B)-C.

# Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan (PRF) Premium and Indemnity Calculation

#### Premium Calculation:

#### Step 1: Calculating the Dollar Amount of Insurance Per Acre

The dollar amount of insurance per acre is the product of the county-base value, which is calculated by USDA, Risk Management Agency (RMA), based on the available quantity of forage per acre (i.e., biomass, which authors used from the G-Range model (Boone et al., 2018; Vaiknoras et al., 2024), and current market prices), the chosen coverage level, and chosen productivity factor.

Dollar Amount of Insurance Per Acre = County-Base Value \* Coverage-Level Percent \* Productivity Factor

#### Step 2: Calculating Insured Liability

The total guaranteed liability amount is the product of the dollar amount of insurance per acre, the total amount of acreage being insured, and the percent of value that determines how the insurance coverage is allocated across the multiple index intervals selected by the producer (i.e., two index intervals with percent of value equal to 50 percent would apply equal weighting to each index interval).

Total Guarantee Amount = Dollar Amount of Insurance Per Acre \* Total Insured Acreage \* Percent of Value

The insured liability was then calculated by multiplying the total guarantee amount by the insured share percent that reflects the producer's ownership share of the ranching operation.<sup>1</sup>

Liability Amount = Total Guarantee Amount \* Insured Share Percent

#### Step 3: Total Premium, Subsidy, and Producer Premium Calculation

The total premium was then calculated by multiplying the liability amount by a base premium rate set by USDA, RMA (using RMA methods, this rate was dynamically calculated in the simulations as precipitation was projected out). The subsidy amount was a product of the total premium and the subsidy percent.<sup>2</sup> The producer's out of pocket expenditure for the insurance coverage (i.e., the producer premium amount) was equal to the total premium amount net of the subsidy amount.

Total Premium Amount = Liability Amount \* Base Premium Rate

Subsidy Amount = Total Premium Amount \* Subsidy Percent

Producer-Premium Amount = Total Premium Amount - Subsidy Amount

Continued on next page 14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In cases where the insured does not have a 100-percent ownership stake (for example, co-ownership or crop share agreement), the insured liability is scaled based on the insured's share of production. The insured share is fixed based on the ownership structure of the operation.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The standard subsidy percentage ranges from 51 percent to 59 percent, depending on the chosen coverage level. Producers who qualify as beginning or veteran farmers or ranchers have their subsidy percent increased by 10 percentage points.

#### **Indemnity Calculation:**

When the rainfall index for a particular grid falls below the normalized trigger level (i.e., any value below 100) during a producer's selected index interval, a producer receives an indemnity equivalent to the liability amount multiplied by the difference between 100 and the index value (i.e., the payment factor).

Indemnity Amount = Liability Amount \* Payment Factor

Assumptions: Note that the authors made several assumptions in this report, such as (A) fixed time periods of enrollment in PRF, (B) the coverage level, and (C) the productivity factor (all of which are based on the average observed levels from 2018 to 2023). Climate change may indirectly affect each of these aspects. For example, as the climate warms, some States (Montana) will have longer grazing seasons, so producers may start insuring 4 months of the year rather than 2; or the increases in precipitation will likely make some land more productive, so producers may change their productivity factor.

# **Simulation Results**

The report authors used the results from the precipitation and biomass models, along with estimates of future participation, to project 5-year moving averages of total net payments attributable to the PRF plan out to 2050. Payments are equivalent to the sum of indemnity payments and disbursed subsidies net of total premiums, as depicted in figure 10 (all results are in 2024 dollars).

- Under the baseline scenario (participation fixed at 2024 levels), total net payments were projected to average \$530 million per year between 2024 and 2050.
- Under a nonnegative trend-based growth scenario, total net payments were projected to average \$538 million per year between 2024 and 2050.
- Under the scenario allowing for a variable, precipitation-driven growth rate in PRF participation, total net payments were projected to average \$495 million per year.
- Finally, under the full participation scenario, total net payments were projected to average \$2.63 billion per year between 2024 and 2050.





Note: All monetary values are in real 2024 dollars.

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service analysis of data from USDA, Risk Management Agency, National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP), and the G-Range simulation model with results averaged across seven general circulation models: HadGEM2.ES (Collins et al., 2011), IPSL-CM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013), CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 (Collier et al., 2011), BCCCMS 1.1 (Wu, 2012), GFDL-CM3 (Donner et al., 2011), GISS-E2-R (Schmidt et al., 2006), and MIR-CGCM3 (Yukimoto et al., 2012).

The results also highlight that variation in payments can be significant even when holding participation fixed (either at 2024 levels or fixed at "full participation"). The change in payments at various points in time is driven by climatic variables, such as changes in precipitation and biomass. A decline in precipitation (relative to the rainfall index) is what triggers PRF program payments, but the magnitude of the payments is based on precipitation and biomass. It is difficult to directly attribute a change in a given year to one of those variables because the analysis is done on a grid level, but the authors note that biomass exhibits relatively little variation year to year (see figure 8, for example, which shows longer term trends in changes), whereas precipitation is highly stochastic (random) (see figure 5).

In practice, associating precipitation with participation (as was done with the "precipitation-driven growth rate" assumption) is useful for illustrating growth rates that are dynamic across U.S. regions with different precipitation levels under that participation assumption. Figure 11 depicts program outcomes separately estimated for four U.S. regions. Panel A shows that the majority of the recently observed growth in insured acres under PRF has been in the western United States.

#### Figure 11 Pasture, Rangeland, Forage insurance plan by region using precipitation-driven growth rate, 2011–50



Note: Midwest includes Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, Ohio, North Dakota, South Dakota, and Wisconsin. Northeast includes Connecticut, Delaware, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and Vermont. South includes Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, and West Virginia. West includes Arizona, California, Colorado, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming.

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service based on analysis of data from USDA, Risk Management Agency, National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Earth Exchange Global Daily Downscaled Projections (NEX-GDDP), and the G-Range simulation model with results averaged across seven general circulation models: HadGEM2.ES (Collins et al., 2011), IPSL-CM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013), CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 (Collier et al., 2011), BCCCMS 1.1 (Wu, 2012), GFDL-CM3 (Donner et al., 2011), GISS-E2-R (Schmidt et al., 2006), and MIR-CGCM3 (Yukimoto et al., 2012).

Potential Budgetary Impacts of Climate Change on the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Insurance Plan, EB-38 USDA, Economic Research Service

16

Based on 5-year moving averages, growth in insured acreage in the West was estimated to increase by 38.3 percent, from 163 million acres in 2024 (average insured acreage from 2020 to 2024) to 225 million acres by 2050 (average insured acreage from 2046 to 2050) using results from the precipitation-driven growth rate scenario. Percentage changes in enrolled acres were similarly estimated for the Midwest (56.1 percent), South (20.3 percent), and Northeast (52.3 percent). Other estimated outcomes (panels B–F of figure 11) show a consistent relative ordering across regions with the West (having the highest values), followed by the South, Midwest, and Northeast. One exception is that estimated total net payments (panel F) for the South and West were comparable across the projection period despite the West having approximately five times the enrolled acreage. This finding is mostly explained by the higher productivity of acreage in the South, which results in relatively higher insured liabilities (panel B). For example, despite the West having approximately five times the enrolled acreage, insured liabilities are only about 1.75 times the liabilities of the South. Average annual net total payments for the four regions depicted in figure 11 were \$243 million (West), \$220 million (South), \$3.5 million (Northeast), and \$96 million (Midwest).

It is important to note when interpreting the results depicted in figure 11 that an implicit assumption is that the correlations observed between precipitation and PRF enrollment trends to date will hold in the future. This result may not be the case due to the number of factors that influence participation besides rainfall, in addition to currently observed enrollment trends being heavily influenced by initial availability.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Since PRF is a relatively new insurance product, much of the observed increases in demand to date are a result of the insurance product that is available for the first time in a producer's county. Thus, correlations between precipitation and changes in participation over this period may not necessarily indicate a causal relationship.

## Conclusion

Research shows that climate change is likely to affect agriculture. Beckman et al. (2023, 2024) found that corn and soybean production could be affected by higher temperatures in the United States. In addition, Hrozencik et al. (2024) provided evidence that more greenhouse gas emissions could produce more drought—leading to more Government payments in the Livestock Forage Disaster Program. Climate change may also affect another program available to livestock producers—the Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage (PRF) insurance program. PRF was introduced as a pilot program in the 2007 crop year to provide producers protection when a loss of forage is experienced due to a lack of precipitation. Since its 2016 expansion, PRF participation has steadily increased from 44 million acres in 2016 to 278 million in 2023. The authors use projected precipitation estimates, along with estimates of biomass change, to calculate potential future PRF net payments.

They find that grid-level estimates suggest increases in precipitation and biomass between 2024 and 2050, which result in total net PRF payments comparable to payment levels in recent years. Holding participation fixed at 2024 levels (i.e., the baseline scenario), estimating a trend-based growth rate, and estimating a precipitation-based growth rate all produce annual net payments that range from \$429 million to \$602 million.

These estimates are in a comparable range to the average annual net payments of \$603 million per year observed from 2020 to 2023. However, upper bound estimates (assuming that enrollment rises to 100 percent of eligible acres) project that net payments would reach an average of \$2.63 billion per year (with annual extremes of between \$1.09 billion and \$3.25 billion) over the projection period if all PRF eligible acreage was enrolled.

The authors also find that variation in payments over time can be significant even when holding the participation rate fixed (either at 2024 levels or fixed at "full participation"). This finding indicates that a significant portion of the variance in program outcomes is driven by climatic variables, such as changes in precipitation and biomass. Although volatility in net payments is higher in absolute dollar terms under the full participation scenario, this result is partially an artifact of scale. The coefficient of variation, which provides a measure of volatility that is normalized by the mean, in net payments across the projection period, were between 0.05 and 0.18 for all four scenarios.

It is important to note that when disentangling how precipitation and biomass relate to net payments, one must consider the design of PRF. By program design, precipitation has an immediate (same year) effect on gross payments (indemnities) and a 2-year lagged effect on gross cost (premiums) to producers. Thus, depending on their magnitudes and distribution of acres across different levels of indemnification, this result may lead to a modest change in net payments (indemnities + subsidy – premiums). While precipitation also has a direct effect on biomass, this effect is generally negligible because of the way forage yields and prices interact within the program (declining yields could lead to higher prices, for example). The county-base value, which is essentially a per acre value (price \* yield) of PRF, acts as a scaling factor to convert the costs and benefits of the program into monetary terms. The monetary terms then do not affect the premium per dollar of liability (premium/liability) or the lost cost ratio (indemnity/liability) of the program since the terms affect premiums, liabilities, subsidy, and indemnity proportionally. The fact is that precipitation and biomass have unique, and sometimes independent, effects on net program payments that are not straightforward to disentangle.

### References

- Beckman, J., Dong, F., Ivanic, M., & Villoria, N. (2024). Climate-induced yield changes and TFP: How much R&D is necessary to maintain food supply? (Report No. ERR-333). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
- Beckman, J., Ivanic, M., & Nava, N. (2023). Estimating market implications from corn and soybean yields under climate change in the United States (Report No. ERR-324). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
- Belasco, E., & Hungerford, A. (2018). Examining the design and use of the Pasture, Rangeland, Forage (PRF) Program. *Western Economics Forum* 16(2), 55–61.
- Bolster, C. H., Mitchell, R., Kitts, A., Campbell, A., Cosh, M., Farrigan, T., Franzluebbers, A., Hoover, D., Jin, V., Peck, D., Schmer, M., & Smith, M. (2023). Agriculture, food systems, and rural communities. In A.R. Crimmins, C. W. Avery, D. R. Easterling, K. E. Kunkel, B. C. Stewart, & T. K. Maycock (Eds.), *Fifth national climate assessment* (pp. 11-1–11-31) U.S. Global Change Research Program.
- Boone, R. B., Conant, R. T., Sircely, J., Thornton, P. K., & Herrero, M. (2018). Climate change impacts on selected global rangeland ecosystem services. *Global Climate Change Biology*, *24*, 1382–1393.
- Coble, K., Goodwin, B., Miller, M.F., Rejesus, R., Harri, A., & Linton, D. (2020). Review of the Pasture, Rangeland, Forage Rainfall Index Crop Insurance Program indexing and rating methodology final report. Report to U.S. Department of Agriculture, Risk Management Agency by Sigma Agricultural Risk and Actuarial Services, LLC.
- Collier, M. A., Jeffrey, S. J., Rotstayn, L. D., Wong, K. K., Dravitzki, S. M., Moseneder, C., & El Zein, A. (2011). The CSIRO-Mk3.6.0 atmosphere-ocean GCM: Participation in CMIP5 and data publication. In F. Chan, D. Marinova, & R. S. Anderssen (Eds.), *19th International Congress on modelling and simulation* (pp. 2691–2697). Modelling and Simulation Society of Australia and New Zealand.
- Collins, W.J., Bellouin, N., Doutriaux-Boucher, M., Gedney, N., Halloran, P., Hinton, T., Hughes, J., Jones, C.D., Joshi, M., Liddicoat, S., Martin, G., O'Connor, F., Rae, J., Senior, C., Sitch, S., Totterdell, I., Wiltshire, A., & Woodward, S. (2011). Development and evaluation of an earth-system model— HadGEM2. *Geoscientific Model Development*, *4*, 1051–1075.
- Davidson, K., & Goodrich, B. (2023). Nudge to insure: Can informational nudges change enrollment decisions in Pasture, Rangeland, and Forage Rainfall Index Insurance? *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy* 45(1), 534–554.
- DeFries, R. S., Hansen, M. C., Townshend, R. G., Janetos, A.C., & Loveland, T. R. (2000). A new global 1-kilometer dataset of percentage tree cover derived from remote sensing. *Global Change Biology*, 6, 247–254.
- Donner, L. J., Wyman, B. L., Hemler, R. S., Horowitz, L. W., Ming, Y., Zhao, M., Golaz, J., Ginoux, P., Lin, S. J., Schwarzkopf, M. D., Austin, J., Alaka, G., Cooke, W. F., Delworth, T. L., Freidenreich, S. M., Gordon, C. T., Griffies, S. M., Held, I. M., Hurlin, W. J., Klein, S. A., ... Zeng, F. (2011). The dynamical core, physical parameterizations, and basic simulation characteristics of the atmospheric component AM3 of the GFDL Global Coupled Model CM3. *Journal of Climate*, 24, 3484–3519.

- Dufresne, J. L., Foujols, M. A., Denvil, S., Caubel, A., Marti, O., Aumont, O., Balkanski, Y., Bekki, S., Bellenger, H., Benshila, R., Bony, S., Bopp, L., Braconnot, P., Brockmann, P., Cadule, P., Cheruy, F., Codron, F., Cozic, A., Cugnet, D., de Noblet, N., ... Vulchard, N. (2013). Climate change projections using the IPSL-CM5 Earth System Model: From CMIP3 to CMIP5. *Climate Dynamics*, 40, 2123–2165.
- Godde, C. M., Boone, R. B., Ash, A. J., Waha, K., Sloat, L. L., Thornton, P. K., & Herrero, M. (2020). Global rangeland production systems and livelihoods at threat under climate change and variability. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15.
- Goodrich, B., Yu, J., & Vandeveer, M. (2020). Participation patterns of the rainfall index insurance for pasture, rangeland and forage programme. The Geneva Papers on Risk and Insurance—Issues and Practice, 45, 29–51.
- Hrozencik, R., Perez-Quesada, G., & Bocinsky, K. (2024). The stocking impact and financial climate risk of the Livestock Forage Disaster Program (Report No. ERR-329). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
- Loveland, T. R., Reed, B. C., Brown, J. F., Ohlen, D. O., Zhu, J., Yang, L., & Merchant, J. W. (2000). Development of a global land cover characteristics database and IGBP DISCover from 1-kilometer AVHRR data. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 21, 1301–1330.
- Riahi, K., Grübler, A., & Nakicenovic, N. (2007). Scenarios of long-term socio-economic and environmental development under climate stabilization. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 74, 887–935.
- Schmidt, G. A., Ruedy, R., Hansen, J. E., Aleinov, I., Bell, N., Bauer, M., Bauer, S., Cairns, B., Canuto, V., Cheng, Y., Del Genio, A., Faluvegi, G., Friend, A. D., Hall, T. M., Hu, Y., Kelley, M., Kiang, N. Y., Koch, D., Lacis, A.A.,...Yao, M. S. (2006). Present-day atmospheric simulations using GISS ModelE: Comparison to in situ, satellite, and reanalysis data. *Journal of Climate*, 19, 153–192.
- Tack, J., Coble, K., & Barnett, B. (2018). Warming temperatures will likely induce higher premium rates and government outlays for the U.S. crop insurance program. *Agricultural Economics*, 49(5), 635–647.
- Thrasher, B., Wang, W., Michaelis, A., Melton, F., Lee, T., & Nemani, R. (2022). NASA global daily down-scaled projections, CMIP6. *Scientific Data*, 9(1), 262.
- Tsiboe, F., Tack, J., & Yu, J. (2023). Farm-level evaluation of area- and agroclimatic-based index insurance. *Journal of the Agricultural and Applied Economics Association*, 2(4), 616-633.
- Tsiboe, F., & Turner, D. (2023). The crop insurance demand response to premium subsidies: Evidence from U.S. agriculture. *Food Policy*, 119.
- Turner, D., Tsiboe, F., Baldwin, K., Williams, B., Dohlman, E., Astill, G., Raszap-Skorbiansky, S., Abadam, V., Yeh, A., & Knight, R. (2023). *Federal programs for agricultural risk management* (Report No. EIB-259). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. https://dx.doi.org/10.32747/2023.8321812.ers
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Risk Management Agency. (2024) Pasture, rangeland, forage.
- Vaiknoras, K., Kiker, G., Nkonya, E., Morgan, S., Beckman, J., Johnson, M., & Maros, I. (2024). The effect of climate change on herbaceous biomass and implications for global cattle production (Report No. ERR-339). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
- Wu, T. (2012). A mass-flux cumulus parameterization scheme for large-scale models: Description and test with observations. *Climate Dynamics*, 38, 725–744.

Yukimoto, S., Adachi, Y., Hosaka, M., Sakami, T., Yoshimura, H., Hirabara, M., Tanaka, T. Y., Shindo, E., Tsujino, H., Deushi, M., Mizuta, R., Yabu, S., Obata, A., Nakano, H., Koshiro, T., Ose, T., & Kitoh, A. (2012). A new global climate model of the Meteorological Research Institute: MRI-CGCM3—Model description and basic performance. *Journal of the Meteorological Society of Japan*, 90A, 23–64.